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the end of the period of conditional ad-
mission, or within such additional time 
as the Administrator and the U.S. Cus-
toms Service may allow, is deemed to 
be unlawfully imported into the United 
States in violation of section 213(d) and 
section 203 of the Act, unless the en-
gine has been delivered to the U.S. Cus-
toms Service for export or other dis-
position under applicable Customs laws 
and regulations by the end of the pe-
riod of conditional admission. An en-
gine not so delivered is subject to sei-
zure by the U.S. Customs Service. 

(d) An importer who violates section 
213(d) and section 203 of the Act is sub-
ject to a civil penalty under section 205 
of the Act and § 94.1106. In addition to 
the penalty provided in the Act and 
§ 94.1106, where applicable, a person or 
entity who imports an engine under 
the exemption provisions of § 94.804 
and, who fails to deliver the engine to 
the U.S. Customs Service by the end of 
the period of conditional admission is 
liable for liquidated damages in the 
amount of the bond required by appli-
cable Customs laws and regulations.

Subpart J—Exclusion and 
Exemption Provisions

§ 94.901 Purpose and applicability. 
The provisions of this subpart iden-

tify excluded engines (i.e., engines not 
covered by the Act) and allow for the 
exemption of engines from certain pro-
visions of this part. The applicability 
of the exclusions is described in § 94.903, 
and the applicability of the exemption 
allowances is described in §§ 94.904 
through 94.909.

§ 94.902 Definitions. 
The definitions of Subpart A of this 

part apply to this subpart.

§ 94.903 Exclusions. 
(a) Upon written request with sup-

porting documentation, EPA will make 
written determinations as to whether 
certain engines are excluded from ap-
plicability of this part. Any engines 
that are determined to be excluded are 
not subject to the regulations under 
this part. Requests to determine 
whether certain engines are excluded 
should be sent to the Designated Offi-
cer. 

(b) EPA will maintain a list of mod-
els of engines that have been deter-
mined to be excluded from coverage 
under this part. This list will be avail-
able to the public and may be obtained 
by writing to the address in paragraph 
(a) of this section. 

(c) In addition to the engines ex-
cluded in paragraph (a) of this section, 
certain engines are not subject to the 
requirements and prohibitions of this 
part because they are excluded from 
the definitions of ‘‘marine engine’’ in 
§ 94.2.

§ 94.904 Exemptions. 

(a) Except as specified otherwise in 
this subpart, the provisions of §§ 94.904 
through 94.911 exempt certain new en-
gines from the standards, other re-
quirements, and prohibitions of this 
part, except for the requirements of 
this subpart and the requirements of 
§ 94.1104. Additional requirements may 
apply for imported engines; these are 
described in subpart I of this part. 

(b)(1) Any person may request a test-
ing exemption subject to the provisions 
of § 94.905. 

(2) Any engine manufacturer may re-
quest a national security exemption 
subject to the provisions of § 94.908. 

(3) Engines manufactured for export 
purposes are exempt without applica-
tion, subject to the provisions of 
§ 94.909, except as otherwise specified by 
§ 94.909. 

(4) Manufacturer-owned engines are 
exempt without application, subject to 
the provisions of § 94.906(a). 

(5) Display engines are exempt with-
out application, subject to the provi-
sions of § 94.906(b). This does not apply 
to imported engines (see § 94.804). 

(6) Engines used solely for competi-
tion are exempt, subject to the provi-
sions of § 94.906(c). 

(7) Engines used on foreign trade ves-
sels are exempt, subject to the provi-
sions of § 94.906(d).

§ 94.905 Testing exemption. 

(a)(1) The Administrator may exempt 
from the standards and/or other re-
quirements and prohibitions of this 
part new engines that are being used 
solely for the purpose of conducting a 
test program. Any person requesting 
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an exemption for the purpose of con-
ducting a test program must dem-
onstrate the following: 

(i) That the proposed test program 
has a purpose which constitutes an ap-
propriate basis for an exemption in ac-
cordance this section; 

(ii) That the proposed test program 
necessitates the granting of an exemp-
tion; 

(iii) That the proposed test program 
exhibits reasonableness in scope; and 

(iv) That the proposed test program 
exhibits a degree of oversight and con-
trol consonant with the purpose of the 
test program and EPA’s monitoring re-
quirements. 

(2) Paragraphs (b), (c), (d), and (e) of 
this section describe what constitutes 
a sufficient demonstration for each of 
the four elements identified in para-
graphs (a)(1)(i) through (iv) of this sec-
tion. 

(b) With respect to the purpose of the 
proposed test program, an appropriate 
purpose would be research, investiga-
tions, studies, demonstrations, tech-
nology development, or training, but 
not national security. A concise state-
ment of purpose is a required item of 
information. 

(c) With respect to the necessity that 
an exemption be granted, necessity 
arises from an inability to achieve the 
stated purpose in a practicable manner 
without performing or causing to be 
performed one or more of the prohib-
ited acts under § 94.1103. In appropriate 
circumstances, time constraints may 
be a sufficient basis for necessity, but 
the cost of certification alone, in the 
absence of extraordinary cir-
cumstances, is not a basis for neces-
sity. 

(d) With respect to reasonableness, a 
test program must exhibit a duration 
of reasonable length and affect a rea-
sonable number of engines. In this re-
gard, required items of information in-
clude: 

(1) An estimate of the program’s du-
ration; and 

(2) The maximum number of engines 
involved. 

(e) With respect to control, the test 
program must incorporate procedures 
consistent with the purpose of the test 
and be capable of affording EPA moni-

toring capability. As a minimum, re-
quired items of information include: 

(1) The technical nature of the test-
ing; 

(2) The location(s) of the testing; 
(3) The time or work duration of the 

testing; 
(4) The ownership arrangement with 

regard to the engines involved in the 
testing; 

(5) The intended final disposition of 
the engines; 

(6) The manner in which the engine 
identification numbers will be identi-
fied, recorded, and made available; and 

(7) The means or procedure whereby 
test results will be recorded. 

(f) A manufacturer of new engines 
may request a testing exemption to 
cover engines intended for use in test 
programs planned or anticipated over 
the course of a subsequent two-year pe-
riod. Unless otherwise required by the 
Director, Engine Programs and Compli-
ance Division, a manufacturer request-
ing such an exemption need only fur-
nish the information required by para-
graphs (a)(1) and (d)(2) of this section 
along with a description of the record-
keeping and control procedures that 
will be employed to assure that the en-
gines are used for purposes consistent 
with paragraph (a) of this section. 

(g) For engines being used for the 
purpose of developing a fundamentally 
new emission control technology re-
lated either to an alternative fuel or an 
aftertreatment device, the Adminis-
trator may exempt the engine from 
some or all of the applicable standards 
of this part for the full useful life of 
the engine, subject to the provisions of 
paragraphs (a) through (f) of this sec-
tion.

§ 94.906 Manufacturer-owned exemp-
tion, display exemption, competi-
tion exemption, and foreign trade 
vessel exemption. 

(a) Manufacturer-owned exemption. 
Any manufacturer-owned engine, as de-
fined by § 94.2, is exempt from § 94.1103, 
without application, if the manufac-
turer complies with the following 
terms and conditions: 

(1) The manufacturer must establish, 
maintain, and retain the following ade-
quately organized and indexed informa-
tion on each exempted engine: 

(i) engine identification number; 
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(ii) Use of the engine on exempt sta-
tus; and 

(iii) Final disposition of any engine 
removed from exempt status. 

(2) The manufacturer must provide 
right of entry and access to these 
records to EPA Enforcement Officers 
as outlined in § 94.208. 

(3) The manufacturer must perma-
nently affix a label to each engine on 
exempt status, unless the requirement 
is waived or an alternate procedure is 
approved by the Director, Engine Pro-
grams and Compliance Division. This 
label should: 

(i) Be affixed in a readily visible por-
tion of the engine; 

(ii) Be attached in such a manner 
that cannot be removed without de-
struction or defacement; 

(iii) State in the English language 
and in block letters and numerals of a 
color that contrasts with the back-
ground of the label, the following infor-
mation: 

(A) The label heading ‘‘Emission Con-
trol Information’’; 

(B) Full corporate name and trade-
mark of manufacturer; 

(C) Engine displacement, engine fam-
ily identification, and model year of 
engine; or person of office to be con-
tacted for further information about 
the engine; 

(D) The statement ‘‘This engine is ex-
empt from the prohibitions of 40 CFR 
94.1103.’’

(4) No provision of paragraph (a)(3) of 
this section prevents a manufacturer 
from including any other information 
it desires on the label. 

(5) The engine is not used in revenue-
generating service, or sold. 

(b) Display exemption. An uncertified 
engine that is to be used solely for dis-
play purposes, and that will only be op-
erated incident and necessary to the 
display purpose, and will not be sold 
unless an applicable certificate of con-
formity has been obtained for the en-
gine, is exempt without request from 
the standards of this part. This does 
not apply to imported engines (see 
§ 94.804). 

(c) Competition exemption. The Admin-
istrator may exempt, upon request, en-
gines that are intended by the manu-
facturer to be used solely for competi-
tion. Engines that are modified after 

they have been placed into service and 
are used solely for competition are ex-
empt without request. 

(d) Foreign trade exemption. (1) The 
Administrator may exempt, upon re-
quest of the vessel owner, engines used 
on U.S.-flagged vessels meeting the 
provisions of paragraph (d)(2) of this 
section. 

(2) Vessel owners requesting an ex-
emption under this paragraph (d) must 
demonstrate to the Administrator 
that: 

(i) The vessel will spend less than 25 
percent of its operating time within 320 
nautical kilometers of U.S. territory; 
or 

(ii) That it will not operate between 
two United States ports. 

(3) For the purpose of this paragraph 
(d), the term ‘‘vessel owner’’ includes 
any entities that have contracted to 
purchase a new marine vessel. 

(4) The engine manufacturer must 
label the engine, and must include on 
the label the following statement: 
‘‘THIS ENGINE IS SUBJECT TO THE 
MARPOL ANNEX VI NOX LIMITS AND 
IS INTENDED FOR USE SOLELY ON 
VESSELS THAT SERVICE FOREIGN 
PORTS AS DESCRIBED IN 40 CFR 
94.906.’’, or a similar statement ap-
proved by the Administrator.

§ 94.907 Engine dressing exemption. 
(a) This section applies to you if you 

are an engine manufacturer (this in-
cludes post-manufacture marinizers). 

(b) The only requirements or prohibi-
tions from this part that apply to an 
engine that is exempt under this sec-
tion are in this section. 

(c) The requirements and prohibi-
tions of this part apply to all engines 
in the scope of § 94.1 that do not qualify 
for the engine dressing exemption. 

(d) New marine engines that meets 
all the following criteria are exempt 
under this section: 

(1) You must produce it by 
marinizing an engine covered by a 
valid certificate of conformity from 
one of the following programs: 

(i) Heavy-duty highway engines (40 
CFR part 86). 

(ii) Land-based nonroad diesel en-
gines (40 CFR part 89). 

(iii) Locomotive engines (40 CFR part 
92). 
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(2) The engine must have the label 
that required under 40 CFR part 86, 89, 
or 92. 

(3) You must not make any changes 
to the certified engine that could rea-
sonably be expected to increase its 
emissions. For example, if you make 
any of the following changes to one of 
these engines, you do not qualify for 
the engine dressing exemption: 

(i) Change any fuel system param-
eters from the certified configuration. 

(ii) Replace an original turbocharger. 
(iii) Modify or design the marine en-

gine cooling or aftercooling system so 
that temperatures or heat rejection 
rates are outside the original engine 
manufacturer’s specified ranges. 

(4) The engine model must not be pri-
marily for marine applications. This 
means that total sales of the engine 
model, from all companies, must be 
mostly for non-marine applications. 

(e) If you dress an engine under this 
exemption, you must do all of the fol-
lowing: 

(1) Make sure the original engine 
label will remain clearly visible after 
installation in the vessel. 

(2) Add a permanent supplemental 
label to the engine in a position where 
it will remain clearly visible after in-
stallation in the vessel. In your engine 
label, do the following: 

(i) Include the heading: ‘‘Marine En-
gine Emission Control Information’’. 

(ii) Include your full corporate name 
and trademark. 

(iii) State: ‘‘This engine was 
marinized without affecting its emis-
sion controls.’’

(iv) State the date you finished 
marinizing the engine (month and 
year). 

(3) Send a signed letter to the Des-
ignated Officer by the end of each cal-
endar year (or less often if we tell you) 
with all the following information: 

(i) Identify your full corporate name, 
address, and telephone number. 

(ii) List the engine models you expect 
to produce under this exemption in the 
coming year. 

(iii) State: ‘‘We produce each listed 
engine model for marine application 
without making any changes that 
could increase its certified emission 
levels, as described in 40 CFR 94.907.’’

(f) In general you may use up your 
inventory of engines that are not cer-
tified to new marine emission stand-
ards if they were originally manufac-
tured before the date of the new stand-
ards. However, stockpiling these en-
gines is a violation of 
§ 94.1103(a)(1)(i)(A). 

(g) If your engines do not meet the 
criteria listed in paragraphs (d)(2) 
through (d)(4) of this section, they will 
be subject to the standards and prohi-
bitions of this part. Marinization with-
out an exemption would be a violation 
of § 94.1103(a)(1) and/or the tampering 
prohibitions of the applicable land-
based regulations (40 CFR Parts 86, 89, 
or 92). 

(h)(1) If you are the original manu-
facturer and marinizer of an exempted 
engine, you must send us emission test 
data on the appropriate marine duty 
cycles. You can include the data in 
your application for certification or in 
the letter described in paragraph (e)(3) 
of this section. 

(2) If you are the original manufac-
turer of an exempted engine that is 
marinized by a post-manufacture 
marinizer, you may be required to send 
us emission test data on the appro-
priate marine duty cycles. If such data 
are requested you will be allowed a rea-
sonable amount of time to collect the 
data.

§ 94.908 National security exemption. 

(a)(1) Any marine engine, otherwise 
subject to this part, that is used in a 
vessel that exhibits substantial fea-
tures ordinarily associated with mili-
tary combat such as armor, perma-
nently affixed weaponry, specialized 
electronic warfare systems, unique 
stealth performance requirements, and/
or unique combat maneuverability re-
quirements and which will be owned 
and/or used by an agency of the federal 
government with the responsibility for 
national defense, will be exempt from 
the regulations in this subpart for rea-
sons of national security. No request 
for this exemption is necessary. 

(2) Manufacturers may request a na-
tional security exemption for any ma-
rine engine, otherwise subject to this 
part, which does not meet the condi-
tions described in paragraph (a)(1) of 
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this section. A manufacturer request-
ing a national security exemption must 
state the purpose for which the exemp-
tion is required and the request must 
be endorsed by an agency of the federal 
government charged with responsi-
bility for national defense. 

(b) EPA will maintain a list of mod-
els of marine engines (and the vessels 
which use them) that have been grant-
ed a national security exemption under 
paragraph (a)(2) of this section. This 
list will be available to the public and 
may be obtained by writing to the Des-
ignated Officer.

§ 94.909 Export exemptions. 
(a) A new engine intended solely for 

export, and so labeled or tagged on the 
outside of any container and on the en-
gine, is subject to the provisions of 
§ 94.1103, unless the importing country 
has new marine engine emission stand-
ards which differ from EPA standards. 

(b) For the purpose of paragraph (a) 
of this section, a country having no 
standards whatsoever is deemed to be a 
country having emission standards 
which differ from EPA standards. 

(c) It is a condition of any exemption 
for the purpose of export under para-
graph (a) of this section, that such ex-
emption is void ab initio with respect 
to a new engine intended solely for ex-
port, where such engine is sold, or of-
fered for sale, to an ultimate purchaser 
or otherwise distributed or introduced 
into commerce in the United States for 
purposes other than export.

§ 94.910 Granting of exemptions. 
(a) If upon completion of the review 

of an exemption request made pursuant 
to § 94.905 or § 94.908, EPA determines it 
is appropriate to grant such an exemp-
tion, a memorandum of exemption is to 
be prepared and submitted to the per-
son requesting the exemption. The 
memorandum is to set forth the basis 
for the exemption, its scope, and such 
terms and conditions as are deemed 
necessary. Such terms and conditions 
generally include, but are not limited 
to, agreements by the applicant to con-
duct the exempt activity in the manner 
described to EPA, create and maintain 
adequate records accessible to EPA at 
reasonable times, employ labels for the 
exempt engines setting forth the na-

ture of the exemption, take appro-
priate measures to assure that the 
terms of the exemption are met, and 
advise EPA of the termination of the 
activity and the ultimate disposition of 
the engines. 

(b) Any exemption granted pursuant 
to paragraph (a) of this section is 
deemed to cover any subject engine 
only to the extent that the specified 
terms and conditions are complied 
with. A breach of any term or condi-
tion causes the exemption to be void ab 
initio with respect to any engine. Con-
sequently, the causing or the per-
forming of an act prohibited under 
§ 94.1103(a)(1) or (a)(3), other than in 
strict conformity with all terms and 
conditions of this exemption, renders 
the person to whom the exemption is 
granted, and any other person to whom 
the provisions of § 94.1103(a) are appli-
cable, liable to suit under sections 204 
and 205 of the Act.

§ 94.911 Submission of exemption re-
quests. 

Requests for exemption or further in-
formation concerning exemptions and/
or the exemption request review proce-
dure should be addressed to the Des-
ignated Officer.

Subpart K—[Reserved]

Subpart L—General Enforcement 
Provisions and Prohibited Acts

§ 94.1101 Applicability. 
The requirements of this subpart are 

applicable to all persons with respect 
to engines subject to the provisions of 
Subpart A of this part.

§ 94.1102 Definitions. 
The definitions of subpart A of this 

part apply to this subpart.

§ 94.1103 Prohibited acts. 
(a) The following acts and the caus-

ing thereof are prohibited: 
(1)(i)(A) In the case of a manufac-

turer of new engines, the sale, the of-
fering for sale, the introduction into 
commerce, the delivery for introduc-
tion into commerce, or the distribution 
in commerce of any new engine that is 
subject to the standards of this part, 
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